No. 96780-6

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### AARON RICHARDSON,

Petitioner.

v.

# DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON and CONCO & CONCO PUMPING, INC.

Respondents.

### PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

David W. Lauman, WSBA #27343 Sara B. Sanders, WSBA #46832 SMALL, SNELL, WEISS & COMFORT, P.S. 4002 Tacoma Mall Blvd., Suite 200 P.O. Box 11303 Tacoma, WA 98411-0303 Telephone: (253) 472-2400

Facsimile: (253) 472-3500 Attorneys for Petitioner

###

INTRODUCTION
IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 1
CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 1
ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 2
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
ARGUMENT 8
I. MR. RICHARDSON DID NOT RECEIVE A VALID LIGHT DUTY JOB OFFER BECAUSE IT WAS NOT FROM HIS EMPLOYER OF INJURY AND WAS NOT FOR WORK WITH THE EMPLOYER OF INJURY
B. Even if the language of RCW 51.32.090(4)(b) was ambiguous, rules of statutory interpretation would prohibit an expansive reading of RCW 51.32.090(4)(b) to allow someone other than the employer of injury to offer a job for work with someone other than the employer of injury
ii. The 1993 amendment to RCW 51.32.090(4) further emphasizes that the legislature intended that the offer has to come from and the work has to be with the employer of injury
iii. The legislative documents from the 1993

	amendment to RCW 51.32.240(4) make it clear that the legislature intended to require that the job offer be from the employer of injury and for work with the employer of injury
	iv. Any ambiguity in Title 51 must be liberally construed in favor of injured workers14
	v. The Court of Appeal's reliance on the Department's interpretation of the statute, is misplaced15
	The job offer made to Mr. Richardson was not a valid offer under RCW 51.32.090(4)(b) since it was not from his employer of injury and was not for work with his employer of injury
FOI	E OFFER MADE TO MR. RICHARDSON WAS NOT R "WORK" SINCE NO WORK WAS PERFORMED AND ICE MR. RICHARDSON WAS NOT PAID
III. MR EN	RICHARDSON'S ATTORNEYS SHOULD BE FITLED TO AN AWARD OF FEES
CONCLU	SION

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

### Cases

Aaron E. Richardson v. Department of Labor and Industries and Conco & Conco Pumping, Wn.App. 2d, P.3d (No. 77289-9-1, December 24, 2018)
City of Snohomish v. Joslin, 9 Wn.App. 495, 513 P.2d 293 (1973) 9
Cockle v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 142 Wn.2d 801, 16 P.3d 583 (2001)
Davis v. Dep't of Licensing, 137 Wn.2d 957, 977 P.2d 554 (1999) 9
Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 109 Wn.2d 467, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987)
Doty v. Town of So. Prairie, 155 Wn.2d 527, 120 P.3d 941 (2005) 14
Lightle v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 68 Wn.2d 507, 413 P.2d 814 (1966)
Noble Manor v. Pierce Cnty., 133 Wn.2d 269, 943 P.2d 1378 (1997) 13
Sacred Heart Med. Ctr. v. Carrado, 92 Wn.2d 631, 600 P.2d 1015 (1979)
Spokane Cnty. Health Dist. v. Brockett, 120 Wn.2d 140, 839 P.2d 324 (1992)
State ex rel. Crabb v. Olinger, 196 Wash. 308, 82 P.2d 865 (1938) 14
Wash. State Republican Party v. Wash. State Pub. Disclosure Com'n, 141 Wn.2d 245, 280-81, 4 P.3d 808 (2000)
Welch v. Southland Corp., 134 Wn.2d 629, 952 P.2d 162 (1998) 11
Wilbur v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 61 Wn.2d 439, 378 P.2d 684 (1963)
Young v Estate of Snell. 134 Wn.2d 267, 948 P.2d 1291 (1997)

### **Statutes**

RCW 51.12.010
RCW 51.16.035
RCW 51.18.005
RCW 51.18.010
RCW 51.32.240(4)
RCW 51.52.130
Other Authorities
Department Interim Policy 5.15
In the Matter of the Compensation of Douglas B. Organ, WCB Case No. 95-08498, 95-08107 (Feb. 26, 1997)
Rules
RAP 13.4(b)(4) 8
RAP 18.1
Regulations
WAC 296-17B-4004
Legislative History
Final B. Rep. 53-1246, 1993 Reg. Sess. (Wash. 1993)
Floor Synopsis 53-1246 (1993)
H.B. 1246, 53rd Leg., 1993 Reg. Sess. (Wash. 1993)
S.B. Rep. 53-1246, 1993 Reg. Sess. (Wash. 1993)

#### INTRODUCTION

The decision of the Court of Appeals should be reversed because the requirements of RCW 51.32.090(4)(b) and Department Interim Policy 5.15 were not met. The light duty transitional job Mr. Richardson was offered was not valid because: 1) the offer was not made by the employer of injury; 2) the offer was not for work with the employer of injury; 3) the job being offered did not constitute "work"; and 4) the job was not a valid job since he was not paid.

Since the offer was not a valid job offer under RCW 51.32.090(4)(b), Mr. Richardson is entitled to time loss compensation for the period in question.

### **IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Aaron E. Richardson petitions for review of the decision of
Division One of the Court of Appeals. Mr. Richardson is the claimant in
the underlying workers' compensation claim that is the subject of this
appeal. He was the plaintiff at the Superior Court level and the appellant at
the Court of Appeals.

### CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Richardson petitions for review of the published decision of Division One of the Court of Appeals, Aaron E. Richardson v. Department of Labor and Industries and Conco & Conco Pumping, \_\_\_\_ Wn.App.

2d\_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_ P.3d \_\_\_\_ (No. 77289-9-1, December 24, 2018). A copy is provided in the appendix. (Appendix C).

### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

RCW 51.32.090(4)(b) provides that an injured workers' temporary total disability (time loss) benefits can be terminated if the employer of injury presents a job offer, agreed to by the attending physician, for work with the employer of injury.

Does a job offered not by the employer of injury but instead by a retrospective rating group for work with a separate company, not owned or directly affiliated with either the employer of injury or the retrospective rating group, qualify as a job offer from the employer of injury and with the employer of injury such that temporary total disability benefits are terminated pursuant to RCW 51.32.090(4)(b)?

Does the activity of reading manuals qualify as work under RCW 51.32.090(4)(b) when the worker is not paid for the activity?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Richardson seeks review of a December 24, 2018 decision of Division One of the Court of Appeals which affirmed a July 21, 2017 order from King County Superior Court. In the July 21, 2017 order, the Superior Court affirmed a January 11, 2017 order issued by the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals [hereinafter Board] and affirmed an order issued by the

Department on June 23, 2015. In the June 23, 2015 Department order, the Department ended time loss compensation benefits as of June 21, 2015, because Mr. Richardson returned to work.

Mr. Richardson is a 35-year-old man, who completed the 10th grade and recently received his GED. (CBR, 5/25/16 TR [hereinafter TR], pp. 7-8). Mr. Richardson has only ever worked in construction since leaving high school (CBR, TR, p. 8). He became a journeyman carpenter through the Pacific Northwest Regional Council of Carpenters after completing between 8,000 and 10,000 hours of work. (CBR, TR, p. 9). He has never received any certifications during his work as a journeyman carpenter, and he has never attended any training or certification courses since he started doing construction work. (CBR, TR, p. 9). Every Monday, he would attend safety meetings that lasted approximately 20-30 minutes and, during which, Mr. Richardson never received any written materials. (CBR, TR, pp. 27-28, 31). Mr. Richardson was also never afforded the opportunity by Conco to attend any trainings outside of their weekly Monday safety meetings. (CBR, TR, pp. 27-28).

On February 18, 2014, while working for Conco as a vertical foreman, he suffered an industrial injury to his low back, which was treated with two surgeries and physical therapy. (CBR, TR, pp. 8, 10-11). He missed work and received time loss compensation benefits. (CBR, TR, pp. 63-64).

Associated General Contractors [hereinafter "AGC Retro"] is a retrospective rating group that helps employers, mainly commercial contractors, navigate the worker's compensation process in exchange for membership dues that the employers pay into the group. (CBR, TR, pp. 39, 41; CBR, Gubbe, pp. 4-5, 11). By reducing costs of claims, retro groups can get monetary refunds. WAC 296-17B-400. AGC Retro is a totally separate corporate entity from Conco.

On June 15, 2015, Mr. Richardson received a letter written on AGC Retro's letterhead and signed by Janet Bueche, a claims consultant with AGC Retro. (CBR, TR, pp. 14, 33; CBR, Ex. 1). The letter purported to offer him a light duty transitional job. (CBR, TR, p. 14; CBR, Ex. 1). The letter stated that he was being offered "temporary transitional light duty work" and that it would have "sedentary physical requirements (reading and writing)." (CBR, Ex. 1). It requested that Mr. Richardson report to the Modified Duty Site Resource Center at 3680 S. Cedar Street, Suite J, Tacoma, Washington 98409, which is owned by Thom Willson, the owner of the Safety Educators Program, which received funding from AGC Retro's membership dues, but is not owned by AGC Retro or its employer-members. (CBR, TR, pp. 36-37; CBR, Ex. 1). Mr. Richardson was supposed to attend from 6:00 a.m. to 2:30 p.m. Monday through Friday. (CBR, Ex. 1). The Modified Duty Site facility manager was Tim Johnson, one of Mr. Willson's employees. (CBR, TR, p.

38; CBR, Ex. 1). Mr. Johnson was responsible for reporting attendance to Conco, releasing the attendees for breaks, accommodating any difficulties Mr. Richardson may have experienced, and provide the materials to Mr. Richardson. (CBR, Ex. 1; CBR, TR, pp. 21-22). The letter was on AGC letterhead and instructed Mr. Richardson to call AGC if he had any questions. (CBR, Ex. 1).

The job summary on the job analysis stated that Mr. Richardson was going to be reviewing DOSH construction safety standards. (CBR, Ex. 2). Then, his activities may have included CPR/First Aid certification, Flagger certification, CDL testing preparation, and/or an opportunity for GED completion. *Id.* This type of "job" is only offered for injured workers. (CBR, TR, p. 39).

Mr. Richardson accepted the offer and attended one day. (CBR, TR, pp. 16-17). He did not see any Conco signs inside or outside of the facility that day. (CBR, TR, p. 18). No one from Conco was ever at the facility. (CBR, TR, p. 38). Mr. Richardson did not have to fill out any forms prior to starting. (CBR, TR, p. 23). Mr. Johnson took attendance and gave Mr. Richardson a binder to read, which contained Washington State Labor and Industries policies. (CBR, TR, pp. 20-22). There were approximately 12 other people in the room and Mr. Johnson was the only supervisor. (CBR, TR, pp. 21). Mr. Johnson would release the room for breaks throughout the

day, which included two 10-minute breaks and a 30-minute lunch break. (CBR, TR, pp. 19, 21). Mr. Johnson did not walk around the room at all to check on the participants' progress, but participants were expected to finish a binder per day. (CBR, TR, pp. 21-22). Mr. Richardson's binder did not contain information that he would have reviewed for his job as a vertical foreman, and only some of it was relevant. (CBR, TR, pp. 22, 26).

After Mr. Richardson attended that one day, he did not receive a paycheck, nor did he return. (CBR, TR, pp. 17, 23).

During the course of Mr. Richardson's claim, on January 29, 2015, Lori Allen, a vocational counselor at Strategic Consulting, was assigned by the Department to conduct an ability-to-work assessment of Mr. Richardson. (CBR, TR, pp. 68, 81-82). Ms. Allen reviewed the job analysis for the offer that AGC Retro sent to Mr. Richardson. (CBR, TR, p. 83; CBR, Ex. 2). Ms. Allen expressed concern about the job offer because she was unable to tell what the job title was or what his job duties would be. (CBR, TR, p. 85). She opined that the job analysis sounded like a student, which is not a job in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles. (CBR, TR, p. 85). She also was unsure of the goal of this training or whether this was even a work environment at the resource center. (CBR, TR, pp. 86, 89). Thus, she did not, and could not, conduct a labor market survey. (CBR, TR, pp. 88). Ultimately, Ms. Allen did not recommend that vocational services be closed and thought that Mr.

Richardson was not employable in the general labor market as of June 21, 2015. (CBR, TR, pp. 91-92).

The employer introduced the testimony of Robert Walsh. Mr. Walsh was a journeyman carpenter and now works as a safety manager. (CBR, Walsh, pp. 5-6). Mr. Walsh was also offered transitional light duty work at one of the Safety Educators resource centers in the 1990s. (CBR, Walsh, pp. 6-7). Mr. Walsh also reviewed written materials while attending the resource center that contained information about the construction safety codes in Washington that he already knew about. (CBR, Walsh, pp. 8-10). Prior to his industrial injury, Mr. Walsh only ever attended weekly on-site safety meetings that lasted approximately 10-15 minutes, and he never had to review any written materials during his work as a journeyman carpenter. (CBR, Walsh, pp. 13, 15).

The Department has promulgated a policy, titled Interim Policy 5.15. (CBR, Ex. 3). It applies when there is a disagreement between the employer and the worker regarding a transitional job offer. *Id.* It states that "The department will only consider transitional job offers from the employer(s) of record." *Id.* The policy also states that transitional work can be offered "that has some relationship to the employment at the time of injury." *Id.* Ms. Allen was on the committee that promulgated that policy and testified that "employer of record" is the employer that is listed on the report of accident

and does not include a retro group. (CBR, TR, pp. 72, 76). The policy also requires that the wage for the job meet the minimum wage laws. (CBR, Ex. 3).

The employer also introduced the testimony of Lauren Gubbe, the director of the workers' compensation retro program at AGC Retro. (CBR, Gubbe, p. 4). She explained that if an employer does not have specific materials that it wants a worker to review, then Safety Educators will provide a core study of the safety codes for the worker to review. (CBR, Gubbe, p. 14). Safety Educators employees are also in charge of maintaining a safe environment at the resource center and they can direct the workers to stay on task if they are being disruptive or not doing what they are supposed to be doing. (CBR, Gubbe, pp. 31, 34-35). AGC and Safety Educators do not ask workers to become employees of either AGC or Safety Educators. (CBR, Gubbe, p. 33).

### **ARGUMENT**

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). The issues in this case are of substantial public interest. The Court of Appeals' decision would leave countless injured workers exposed to having their temporary total disability benefits terminated when someone other than the worker's employer offers them work to be performed with someone other than the worker's employer. This is contrary to the plain meaning of RCW

51.32.090(4)(b) and the long-settled rules of statutory interpretation set out by this Court.

- I. MR. RICHARDSON DID NOT RECEIVE A VALID LIGHT DUTY JOB OFFER BECAUSE IT WAS NOT FROM HIS EMPLOYER OF INJURY AND WAS NOT FOR WORK WITH THE EMPLOYER OF INJURY.
  - A. RCW 51.32.090(4)(b) is unambiguous in requiring that a light duty job offer come from the employer of injury and be for work with the employer of injury.

The primary rule of statutory interpretation is that unambiguous statutes need no interpretation and "the court should assume that the legislature means exactly what it says. Plain words do not require construction." *Davis v. Dep't of Licensing*, 137 Wn.2d 957, 964, 977 P.2d 554 (1999) (quoting *City of Snohomish v. Joslin*, 9 Wn.App. 495, 498, 513 P.2d 293 (1973)).

RCW 51.32.090(4)(b) provides that when an "employer of injury requests that a worker" be certified by an attending physician "as able to perform available work other than his or her usual work, the employer shall" provide the attending physician with "a statement describing the work available with the employer of injury." (emphasis added). The statute goes on to say that time loss compensation benefits will continue until the worker is released to the work by the attending physician "and begins the work with the employer of injury." RCW 51.32.090(4)(b)

(emphasis added).

There is nothing ambiguous about the wording of RCW 51.32.090(4)(b). "Employer of injury" unambiguously refers to the employer that the worker was working for at the time of their injury.

B. Even if the language of RCW 51.32.090(4)(b) was ambiguous, rules of statutory interpretation would prohibit an expansive reading of RCW 51.32.090(4)(b) to allow someone other than the employer of injury to offer a job for work with someone other than the employer of injury.

The Court of Appeals stated "[t]he text of RCW 51.32.090(4) does not expressly answer the agent question. It neither permits nor prohibits an employer from using an agent." *Richardson* at 12.

With such a finding of ambiguity in the statute the Court of Appeals should have relied on well-established rules of statutory interpretation to determine whether an expansive interpretation of the statute was permitted under these circumstances. In failing to make such an analysis, the Court of Appeals erroneously decided that an expansive interpretation was permitted.

i. Courts are required to read statutory exceptions narrowly. It would be improper to read into the statute an exception to time loss entitlement for job offers from anyone other than the actual employer of injury.

RCW 51.32.090 deals with when a worker is entitled to temporary total disability benefits. RCW 51.32.090(4)(b) provides an exception to a

claimant's statutory right to these benefits. Such statutory exceptions must be read narrowly, and a court must not create exceptions in addition to those specified by the Legislature. *Wash. State Republican Party v. Wash. State Pub. Disclosure Com'n*, 141 Wn.2d 245, 280-81, 4 P.3d 808 (2000); see also e.g. Welch v. Southland Corp., 134 Wn.2d 629, 636, 952 P.2d 162 (1998).

It would, therefore, be improper to read into RCW 51.32.090(4)(b) the right of anyone other than the actual employer of injury to offer light duty work, or for the work to be with anyone other than the actual employer of injury. The Court of Appeals erred in concluding otherwise.

ii. The 1993 amendment to RCW 51.32.090(4) further emphasizes that the legislature intended that the offer has to come from and the work has to be with the employer of injury.

When the legislature takes action, courts presume that the legislature intends to change existing law, and in enacting an amending statute, a presumption exists that a change was intended. *Spokane Cnty*. *Health Dist. v. Brockett*, 120 Wn.2d 140, 154, 839 P.2d 324 (1992).

In 1993 the legislature amended the relevant language of RCW 51.32.090(4). The language previously read:

Whenever an employer requests that the worker who is entitled to temporary total disability under this chapter be certified by a physician as able to perform available work other than his usual work, the employer shall furnish to the physician, with a copy to the worker, a statement describing the available work in terms that will enable...

The 1993 amendment changed the statutory language to read:

Whenever the employer of injury requests that a worker who is entitled to temporary total disability benefits under this chapter be certified by a physician as able to perform available work other than his or her usual work, the employer shall furnish to the physician, with a copy to the worker, a statement describing the work available with the employer of injury in terms that will enable...

H.B. 1246, 53rd Leg., 1993 Reg. Sess. (Wash. 1993). (emphasis added to highlight the changes in the statute)(see Appendix A). This same language remains in the statute.

In making this change the legislature showed an intent to emphasize that the job offer had to be from the employer of injury rather than another employer, and that the work had to be with the employer of injury rather than another employer.

The legislature is well aware of the existence of the retrospective rating program which it created. See e.g. RCW 51.16.035; RCW 51.18.005; RCW 51.18.010. This program has been in existence for decades. In setting up the program, the legislature authorized the creation of groups such as AGC Retro. RCW 51.18.010. If the legislature had intended for such groups to be allowed to make the job offer or provide the work, the legislature would have so specified.

iii. The legislative documents from the 1993 amendment to RCW 51.32.240(4) make it clear that the legislature intended to require that the job offer be from the employer of injury and for work with the employer of injury.

Even though the relevant language in RCW 51.32.240(4) is not ambiguous, if it was, the legislative source material makes the legislature's intent clear. Such legislative materials are considered authoritative sources to show legislative intent where statutes are ambiguous. See Young v. Estate of Snell, 134 Wn.2d 267, 280, 948 P.2d 1291 (1997), see also Noble Manor v. Pierce Cnty., 133 Wn.2d 269, 277-78, 943 P.2d 1378 (1997).

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