FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/28/2019 9:10 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

96780-6

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

AARON RICHARDSON,

Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON And CONCO & CONCO PUMPING, INC.

Respondents.

ANSWER OF RESPONDENT CONCO & CONCO PUMPING, INC. TO PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

PRATT, DAY & STRATTON, PLLC

Gibby M. Stratton, # 15423 Katelyn Smythe, # 47958 Attorneys for Respondent, Conco & Conco Pumping, Inc. Pratt Day & Stratton, PLLC 2102 N. Pearl Street, Suite 106 Tacoma, Washington 98406 (253) 573-1441

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

VI. ARGUMENT

The light duty job offered to Mr. Richardson met all of the criteria of a valid job offer under RCW 51.32.090. Further, the offer was provided by Conco and constituted "work" that benefitted Conco. Conco maintains that its use of a contracted facility to establish an appropriate environment for Mr. Richardson's transitional light duty does not constitute a job offer from or for a third party.

Mr. Richardson asserts that the job offer made by Conco was defective in two ways. First, Mr. Richardson alleges that the job offer made by Conco was not actually made by Conco. Mr. Richardson's Petition for Review, p. 9. Second, Mr. Richardson alleges that the job offer made by Conco was not for "work" and was therefore invalid. *Id.* at p. 18. Because substantial evidence supports the lower courts' findings that the job offer made by Conco constituted an offer of employment with

Conco and the additional safety training constitutes employment or "work," Mr. Richardson's challenges to Conco's job offer, an offer Mr. Richardson initially accepted, should be rejected and Mr. Richardson's Petition for Review should be denied.

1. THE LIGHT DUTY JOB OFFER PROVIDED TO MR. RICHARDSON WAS FROM HIS EMPLOYER.

In the case at bar, a dispute has arisen regarding the validity of the light duty transitional work that was approved by Mr. Richardson's attending physician, offered to Mr. Richardson, and accepted by Mr. Richardson. Mr. Richardson argues that the offer was not extended to him by his employer of injury because it was extended to him by Conco's representative on the claim. Under RCW 51.32.090(4) and the Department's Interim Policy 5.15, the offer extended to Mr. Richardson must be from the employer of injury and must offer a position working for the employer of injury. As recognized by the Court of Appeals, there is no need to engage in statutory interpretation. It is clear that substantial evidence supports the superior court's findings and the Court of Appeal's affirmation of the decisions preceding their review.

Here, Mr. Richardson takes issue with superficial elements of Conco's job offer, essentially arguing form over substance. For instance, Mr. Richardson states that because the offer appeared on the letterhead of Conco's retrospective rating group and was signed by Ms. Bueche, who manages L&I claims for Conco at AGC, the offer was not made by Conco, but was, instead an offer to work for AGC. Mr. Richardson's Petition for

Review, p. 17. Further, the job offer was for "tasks to be performed for and at the direction of Safety Educators." *Id.* However, Mr. Richardson's arguments ignore the uncontroverted facts of this case. Specifically, Conco's retrospective rating group acts only on behalf of Conco and cannot make job offers or any other claims decisions without the knowledge, approval and explicit direction of Conco. Bueche TR, p. 43. In addition, it ignores the fact that Safety Educators did not have any decision-making authority to alter the curriculum choices made by the employer of injury. Gubbe TR, p. 31.

Under the IIA, an employer is defined as "any person, body of persons, corporate or otherwise, and the legal representative of a deceased employer, all while engaged in this state in any work covered by the provisions of this title, by way of trade or business, or who contracts with one or more workers, the essence of which is the personal labor of such worker or workers." RCW 51.08.070. An employment relationship is created between an employer and employee where "the employer has the right to control the servant's physical conduct in the performance of his duties, and (2) there is consent by the employee to this relationship." CABR, p. 18. (citing *Rideau v. Cort Furniture Rental*, 110 Wn. App. 301, 303-04, 39 P.3d 1006 (2002)).

In determining if this standard has been met, the Court of Appeals has stated that the following factors should be examined: "(1) who controls the work to be done; (2) who determines the qualifications; (3) who sets pay and hours of work and issuing paychecks; (4) who has day-

to-day supervision responsibilities; (5) who provides work equipment; (6) who directs what work is to be done; and (7) who conducts safety training." *Gary Merlino Const. Co., Inc. v. City of Seattle*, 167 Wn. App. 609, 616, 273 P.3d 1049 (2012) (citing *Bennerstrom v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 120 Wn. App. 853, 863, 86 P.3d 826 (2004)); see, also, *In re Sylvia Booth*, BIIA Dec., 92 6148 (1995) (finding the following factors important to consider: who determined qualifications, who controlled payments and number of hours worked, who prepared tax forms, and who hours were ultimately reported to). Here, substantial evidence supports that Conco was Mr. Richardson's employer with respect to the light duty work offered. In addition, the evidence in the Board record demonstrates that neither AGC nor Safety Educators were Mr. Richardson's employers.

The uncontroverted facts establish that Conco was Mr. Richardson's employer with respect to the light duty job. Lauren Gubbe, the director of AGC's workers' compensation retro program, stated that the retrospective rating group "essentially function[s] as, you know, a third party representative for them on their behalf... as a retro association, you act on behalf of your members." TR Gubbe, p. 8. Ms. Gubbe stated that "[w]e can't take action on the claims, actually, in the form of protest or whatever without talking to the employer." TR Gubbe, p. 10. With respect to Mr. Richardson's claim, Ms. Gubbe stated that AGC Retro had Conco's permission to send the offer of temporary transitional light duty work and that AGC would have no power to independently offer such employment to an injured worker. TR Gubbe, p. 16.

Ms. Gubbe also testified that it was up to the employer of injury to decide what curriculum or subject matter will be covered with an injured worker. TR Gubbe, p. 14. Ms. Gubbe denied that employees of Safety Educators would have any decision-making authority to alter the curriculum choices made by the employer of injury. TR Gubbe, p. 31. Ms. Gubbe stated that the employer of injury, in this case Conco, would pay Mr. Richardson's salary and benefits. TR Gubbe, p. 15-26. Ms. Bueche confirmed that, stating that "[e]ach employer pays their individual workers." TR Bueche p. 38. Ms. Gubbe also stated that Conco retains control over Mr. Richardson's schedule and would have to approve any time off requested by the Claimant. TR Gubbe, p. 18-19. Ms. Bueche agreed that Conco, and not Safety Educators, "had complete say in how many hours [Mr. Richardson] would be required to attend, what absences would be deemed excusable, versus not excusable, and what have you." TR Gubbe, p. 48.

In cases of discipline, Ms. Gubbe testified that Safety Educators was required to "contact the employer, unless, of course, there's a safety issue, in which case they would do what they needed to do for safety." TR Gubbe, p. 31. Ultimately, though, discipline is "up to the employer." TR Gubbe, p. 35. Ms. Bueche stated that "[i]t would be the employer" rather than Safety Educators, who was ultimately in charge of discipline, if necessary. TR Bueche, p. 48. Safety Educators' role was, essentially, an advisory one to Conco. TR Bueche, p. 49.

In short, Conco controlled the work to be done, whether Mr. Richardson was eligible for the position, set Mr. Richardson's hours of work, pay rate, and provided both paychecks and benefits, had control over discipline, directed what work was to be done, and was providing additional safety training to its employee in the process. Conco was in no way exempting itself from its burdens as an employer per RCW 51.04.060 as asserted in the Amicus Brief. The facts clearly show that Conco was responsible for all of its burdens under the IIA. Further, these factors establish that an employment relationship existed between Mr. Richardson and Conco during his transitional light duty job. Mr. Richardson's argument to the contrary should be rejected

A. The 1993 Amendment Does Not Support Mr. Richardson's Argument that the Job Offer Was Not Offered by Conco.

Mr. Richardson specifically cites to the 1993 amendment to RCW 51.32.090(4) in support of his contention that the light duty transitional work offer was invalid. However, nothing contained in the 1993 amendment invalidates the light duty transitional work offered by Conco. RCW 51.32.090(4) previously read:

Whenever an employer requests that the worker who is entitled to temporary total disability under this chapter be certified by a physician as able to perform available work other than his usual work, the employer shall furnish to the physician, with a copy to the worker, a statement describing the available work in terms that will enable...

The 1993 amendment changed "employer" to "the employer of injury" and "the available work" to "work available with the employer of injury."

Mr. Richardson asserts those minor changes by the legislature evidenced an intent "to emphasize that the job offer had to be from the employer of injury rather than another employer." Mr. Richardson's Petition for Review, p. 12. Contrary to Mr. Richardson's allegations, that change clearly only shows the legislature's intent to hold the employer of injury responsible for both the offer of the transitional job and the work program. The amendment does not convey a prohibition against an employer of injury utilizing an agent to provide an offer of transitional work. More importantly, Mr. Richardson does not provide any additional authority that an agent cannot be used.

The record supports the fact that AGC acted as an agent for Conco. AGC and Safety Educators are not third-party employers that Conco sent Mr. Richardson to go work for as Mr. Richardson appears to assert. A principal-agent relationship can be established when "[t]he agent manifests a willingness to act subject to the principal's control, and the principal expresses consent for the agent to so act." *Costco Wholesale Corp. v. World Wide Licensing Corp.*, 78 Wash. App. 637, 645, 898 P.2d 347, 352 (1995). The determinative question is whether the principal has "the right to control the... actor's physical conduct in the performance of the service [?]." *Baxter v. Morningside, Inc.*, 10 Wn. App. 893, 895-96, 521 P. 2d 946 (1974).

Conco possessed sole authority regarding whether Mr. Richardson was to be offered light duty and retained the right to use the Resource Center if, when, and how it saw fit. Conco's decision to offer Mr.

Richardson light duty was facilitated by AGC at Conco's direction. AGC could not have contacted Mr. Richardson without being authorized to act on Conco's behalf, as AGC can only interact with injured workers at and according to Conco's instructions. Accordingly, AGC clearly noted in its letter to Mr. Richardson that Conco was the party offering a light duty job. Conco, not AGC, controlled the scope of the light duty job offered to Mr. Richardson. In determining the scope of the light duty offered to Mr. Richardson, Conco made all decisions as to what and how the light duty was to be done. Conco was responsible for the decision to have Mr. Richardson review safety rules and regulations to further its companywide compliance and safety goals. This type of self-led training and review served no purpose for and provided no benefit to AGC. AGC is not in the construction business and does not employ contractors and laborers to complete projects. AGC's role amounted to a worker's compensation consultant assisting Conco with communicating and implementing Conco's light duty job offer to Mr. Richardson.

2. THE LIGHT DUTY JOB OFFER PROVIDED TO PETITION CONSTITUTED "WORK."

In his Petition for Review, Mr. Richardson alleged that the offer made by Conco was not for employment at all. Mr. Richardson's Petition for Review, p. 18. Mr. Richardson in his brief noted that the activity he was to perform for his light duty job was to read manuals. *Id.* He asserted that reading manuals was "an activity that he never did as a part of his work at his job of injury, and he did not need to read a manual to perform

his job." *Id.* Mr. Richardson noted that reading the manuals was more "akin to retraining than to work." *Id.*

Mr. Richardson's argument, however, ignores the extensive testimony in the record detailing the purpose and benefits of the training and its connection to the construction industry. Mr. Richardson's outright dismissal of training as work or employment also is in direct conflict with multiple Board decisions³, although not binding on this Court, which found that training, whether on or off site, constitutes work and employment under the IIA and the Department's Interim Policy 5.15, which explicitly allows on and off-site training of Employees as transitional employment.

"transitional work." It merely states that the work must be offered by the employer of injury and approved by a medical provider. Interim Policy 5.15 provides additional information. Courts are able to look to an agency policy to interpret undefined terms contained in statutes despite the fact that agency policies do not have the force of law. *Stevens v. Brink's Home Sec., Inc.*, 162 Wn. 2d 42, 54, 169 P. 3d 473 (2007) (Madsen, J., concurring). That policy requires that the transitional work offered by an employer correlate to the work the worker was performing at the time of injury. It does not require that the work be the same exact work. The

³ In re Kimberly Bemis, BIIA Dec., 90 5522 (1992); In re Chris J. Thrush, Dckt. No. 09 21463 (November 5, 2010), In re Darlene R. Cate, Dckt. No. 00 20324 (February 5, 2002), In re Richard A. Parsons, Dckt. Nos. 95 5039, 95 7344, & 95 7344-A (February 18, 1997), In re Vernon Randall, Dec'd, BIIA Dec., 47,325 (1977).

duties are not required to be identical. Interim Policy 5.15 further provides that the job offered "should provide a meaningful and respectful work environment."

The work offered to Mr. Richardson clearly benefited both Mr. Richardson and Conco. The work offered included a comprehensive review of all safety regulations relevant to the construction industry, safety policies and procedures of the employer, and numerous additional opportunities including but not limited to training and certification in CPR, obtaining a Commercial Drivers License (CDL), obtaining a flagger certification, and reviewing Conco blueprints relevant to an employee's job assignment. TR Bueche, p. 36; TR, Ex. 2. Specific to the safety training offered, Mr. Richardson was given the opportunity to participate in classroom learning that went well beyond that offered in brief on-thejobsite safety meetings and which would have provided him with much greater knowledge of Washington's workplace safety statutes and rules, or at the very least, a refresher of those rules. TR Walsh, p. 10-11. This enhanced knowledge is important both for Employees, especially supervisory employees like Mr. Richardson, a foreman, and provides tangible benefits to the Employer. TR Gubbe, p. 20; TR Walsh, p. 11.

Conco has a vested interest in developing employee knowledge of safety rules and regulations. While Mr. Richardson may have received safety information on a weekly basis, Conco sought to develop Mr. Richardson's safety knowledge beyond the bare minimum. Conco regularly engages its employees, when possible, in enhancing their

knowledge in order to prevent injuries and deaths before they happen. Safety training has been deemed so essential in the construction industry that the Occupational Safety and Health Administration implements outreach efforts, and private enterprises organize multi-day conferences and expositions. Mr. Richardson fails to note that there is no deficiency requirement that must be met in order to engage in prophylactic training. The Monday safety meetings referred to by Mr. Richardson are an example of this preventive training.

The program also accomplishes the statutorily-defined goals of the legislature in establishing the temporary transitional light duty program. The legislature has stated that "long-term disability and the cost of injuries is significantly reduced when injured workers remain at work following their injury" and employers are encouraged to "provide light duty or transitional work for their workers..." when a worker is injured. RCW 51.32.090(4)(a). The statute further contemplates that the transitional light duty work would be "work other than his or her usual work...." RCW 51.32.090(4)(b). Here, Conco provided temporary transitional light duty work to Mr. Richardson, which unfortunately Mr. Richardson quit, that would have benefited Conco and Mr. Richardson, and also was in furtherance of the legislature's stated goals under 51.32.090.

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